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 UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION 
 Washington, D.C.  

 
 
 
In the Matter of   
      
CERTAIN HIGH-DENSITY FIBER 
OPTIC EQUIPMENT AND 
COMPONENTS THEREOF 
 

Investigation No. 337-TA-1194 
(Enforcement Proceeding)  

 
 

 
ORDER  

 
On March 24, 2020, the Commission instituted an investigation based on a complaint 

filed on behalf of Corning Optical Communications LLC (“Corning”) of Charlotte, North 

Carolina.  85 Fed. Reg. 16653 (Mar. 24, 2020).  The complaint, as supplemented, alleged 

violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, in the 

importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States 

after importation of certain high-density fiber optic equipment and components thereof by reason 

of infringement of certain claims of U.S. Patent Nos. 9,020,320 (“the ’320 patent”); 10,120,153 

(“the ’153 patent”); 8,712,206 (“the ’206 patent”); 10,094,996; and 10,444,456 (“the ’456 

patent”).  Id.  The Commission’s notice of investigation named numerous respondents including 

Panduit Corporation (“Panduit”) of Tinley, Illinois.  Id.  The notice of investigation also named 

the Office of Unfair Import Investigations (“OUII”) as a party.  Id. at 16654.  The full 

investigation background is in the final termination notice.  86 Fed. Reg. 43564-65 (Aug. 9, 

2021). 

On August 3, 2021, the Commission found, inter alia, that Panduit violated section 337 

with respect to claims 1 and 3 of the ’320 patent; claims 11, 12, 14-16, 19, 21, 27, and 28 of 

the ’456 patent; and claims 9, 16, 23, and 26 of the ’153 patent.  Id. at 43565.  Specifically, the 



2 

Commission found that Panduit’s imported articles were used by customers to directly infringe 

the asserted claims of the ’320, ’456, and ’153 patents at Panduit’s inducement.  Id.  The 

Commission issued, inter alia, a General Exclusion Order (“GEO”) and a Cease and Desist 

Order (“CDO”) against Panduit and determined that a bond as set forth in the Orders was 

required during the period of Presidential review.  19 U.S.C. § 1337(j)(3). 

On November 24, 2021, Corning filed a complaint requesting that the Commission 

institute an enforcement proceeding under Commission Rule 210.75, 19 C.F.R. § 210.75, to 

investigate alleged violations of the GEO and CDO by Panduit. 

The Commission, having examined the enforcement complaint and the supporting 

documents, has determined that the complaint complies with the requirements for institution of a 

formal enforcement proceeding. 

Accordingly, the Commission hereby ORDERS THAT– 

1. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.75(a), 19 C.F.R. § 210.75(a), a formal 
enforcement proceeding is instituted to determine whether the enforcement 
respondent named in paragraph 2 is in violation of the GEO and CDO issued in 
the original above-captioned investigation and what, if any, enforcement 
measures are appropriate. 

2. For the purpose of the enforcement proceeding so instituted, the following are 
hereby named as parties: 

a. The complainant is: 

Corning Optical Communications LLC 
4200 Corning Place 
Charlotte, NC 28216 
 

b. The respondent is: 

Panduit Corporation  
18900 Panduit Drive 
Tinley, IL 60487 
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c. The Office of Unfair Import Investigations, U.S. International Trade 
Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Suite 401, Washington, D.C. 20436. 

3. The enforcement proceeding is hereby certified to Chief Administrative Law 
Judge Charles E. Bullock for designation of a presiding administrative law judge 
who will administer the appropriate proceedings and issue an enforcement initial 
determination (“EID”).  Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.51(a), the 
administrative law judge is directed to set the earliest practicable target date for 
completion of the proceeding within 45 days of institution of the proceeding. 
Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.51(a)(2), the target date should be set at no 
more than twelve months from the date of institution.  Pursuant to Commission 
Rule 210.75(a)(3), such target date is to exceed the date of issuance of the EID by 
three months. 

4. The presiding administrative law judge has discretion to conduct any proceedings 
deemed necessary, including issuing a protective order, holding hearings, taking 
evidence, ordering discovery, and seeking documents from other agencies 
consistent with Commission rules to issue the EID.  The EID will rule on the 
question of whether the enforcement respondent has violated the GEO and CDO 
issued in the above-captioned investigation.  All defenses not barred by preclusion 
may be raised in this proceeding.  

5. The presiding administrative law judge shall also recommend to the Commission 
what enforcement measures are appropriate if the enforcement respondent is 
found to have violated the GEO or CDO.  The administrative law judge has 
discretion to conduct any proceedings deemed necessary, including taking 
evidence and ordering discovery, to issue recommendations on appropriate 
enforcement measures. 

6. Petitions for review of the EID may be filed within ten days after service of the 
EID.  Responses to any petitions for review may be filed within five business 
days after service of the petitions. 

7. Comments on the presiding administrative law judge’s recommended penalties 
for any violation of the Orders may be filed pursuant to Commission order and/or 
notice after the Commission has determined whether to review the EID. 

8. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.75(a)(3), the EID shall become the 
Commission’s final determination on violation 45 days after service of the EID, 
unless the Commission orders review of the EID or changes the deadline for 
determining whether to review the EID. 

9. The Secretary shall: 

a. docket the complaint for a formal enforcement proceeding; 
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b. serve a copy of the enforcement complaint on the respondent to the
enforcement proceeding and on OUII, and advise the enforcement
respondent of the provisions of Commission Rule 210.75 concerning
responses to a request for a formal enforcement proceeding;

c. serve a copy of this order upon each party to the formal enforcement
proceeding; and

d. publish notice of this order in the Federal Register.

By order of the Commission. 

Lisa R. Barton 
Secretary to the Commission 

Issued:  December 28, 2021 



CERTAIN HIGH-DENSITY FIBER OPTIC EQUIPMENT 
AND COMPONENTS THEREOF 

Inv. No. 337-TA-1194 
(Enforcement) 

PUBLIC CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I, Lisa R. Barton, hereby certify that the attached ORDER, COMMISSION has 
been served via EDIS upon the Commission Investigative Attorney, Lisa Murray, Esq., and 
the following parties as indicated, on December 28, 2021. 

Lisa R. Barton, Secretary  
U.S. International Trade Commission 
500 E Street, SW, Room 112 
Washington, DC  20436 

Complainant: 

Corning Optical Communications LLC 
4200 Corning Place 
Charlotte, NC 28216 

☐ Via Hand Delivery
☐ Via Express Delivery
☐ Via First Class Mail
☒ Other: Email Notification
of Availability for Download

On Behalf of Complainant Corning Optical Communications 
LLC: 

John Thorne, Esq. 
KELLOGG, HANSEN, TODD, FIGEL & FREDERICK, P.L.L.C. 
1615 M. Street, NW, Suite 400 
Washington, DC 20036 
Email: jthorne@kellogghansen.com 

☐ Via Hand Delivery
☐ Via Express Delivery
☐ Via First Class Mail
☒ Other: Email Notification
of Availability for Download

Respondent: 

Panduit Corporation 
18900 Panduit Drive 
Tinley, IL 60487 

☐ Via Hand Delivery
☐ Via Express Delivery
☐ Via First Class Mail
☒ Other: Service to Be
Completed by Complainant


